STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

CAMERON HAMMONDS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001810

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
APR 06 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel, retained on the eve of trial, was sufficiently prepared for Petitioner's trial where counsel undertook an objectively unreasonable trial strategy based on self-defense when the evidence in Petitioner's case did not support a self-defense claim and where counsel also failed to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter despite the evidence in Petitioner's case supporting such a charge.

STATEMENT

Indictment and Trial

On November 21, 2007, Petitioner was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime for the fatal shooting of Lee Kanard. App. 396 – 397.

On December 1, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to trial on April 1, 2009. E.P. “Bill” Godfrey represented Petitioner. Assistant Solicitors George Campbell and Sylvia Harrison represented the State. App. 1 – 244. The basic facts of Petitioner’s case were not in dispute.

At around 2:00 a.m. on June 20, 2007, Petitioner awoke to his step-brother, Tyrone Woods, knocking on his door. Woods was badly beaten and had his car stolen. Petitioner called the police and Woods was taken to the hospital. App. 164, l. 15 – 167, l. 13.

Petitioner and his friend, Stefan Brewster, then drove in Brewster’s car to see Woods at the hospital. On their way to the hospital, Petitioner spotted Woods’ car abandoned on the side of the road. The car had been ransacked. Petitioner called police to let them know he had located the car. *Id.*

As Petitioner and Brewster were waiting on the police to arrive, Petitioner noticed a beige car with a temporary license plate and distinctive damage to the front passenger door drive past them. App. 168, l. 20 – 170, l. 21. This occurred around 4:45 – 5:00 a.m.

After a cursory inspection, police released the car to Petitioner. Petitioner drove the car to his house. As he was parking the car in the driveway, he again saw the beige car. This time the car slowly drove past Petitioner’s house. While Petitioner did not recognize the driver, he did recall that the car was regularly parked around his neighborhood. *Id.*

Before taking a nap, Petitioner called into work and asked for the day off because of the family crisis. *Id.* Petitioner woke-up later that morning and walked to Woods' house before eating lunch at home. After lunch, Petitioner decided to walk to Brewster's grandmother's house. Brewster, Petitioner, and their friends regularly hung out there.

During his walk to Brewster's grandmother's house, Petitioner passed two men standing in the front yard and front of porch of a residence he was passing. App. 173, l. 3 – 181, l. 13. Petitioner thought that he recognized the man standing in the yard as one of the men in the beige car. Petitioner asked the two men. “[w]hy y’all rob my little brother?” *Id.* The man in yard was Lee Kanard. Kanard responded “[f]uck your little brother, he know how I get down.” *Id.*

As Petitioner continued to ask why the men had beaten his stepbrother and stolen his car, Kanard continued to insult him and his brother. Eventually, the man on the porch pulled out a shotgun. Kanard also tried to pull a handgun out of his waistband, but he fumbled with it. Petitioner wrestled Kanard's handgun away from him and pulled out his own gun that he carried for protection. App. 173, l. 3 – 181, l. 13.

Petitioner then shot at Kanard with both guns as he ran out of the yard. *Id.* Kanard was shot nine times, with most bullet wounds being located on his left side. App. 141, l. 2 – 145, l. 18. Petitioner stated that he dropped both guns as he was running away. Police were unable to locate either of the guns.

Through interviewing witnesses at the crime scene detectives identified Brewster as a person of interest. In his first statement to police, Brewster claimed that he and Petitioner were together for most of the day of the shooting. According to police, Brewster identified Petitioner as the shooter. App. 62, ll. 3-21

At trial, Brewster recanted his earlier statements to police. Brewster testified that he spoke with police because his car was identified as being in the area at the time of the shooting. Brewster explained that he was driving his car in his neighborhood, near the shooting, when he heard gunshots. Not knowing where the shots were coming from, Brewster inadvertently drove past the incident scene only minutes after the shooting had occurred. Based on local news reports, Brewster found out that someone recognized his car and reported him to the police. Brewster contacted the police in order to clear his name. App. 98, l. 12 – 105, l. 13.

In response, the police threatened to charge Brewster with murder unless he identified the shooter, therefore he identified Petitioner. “I was figuring if I tell them what they wanted to hear, I could get them off my back.” App. 105, ll. 9-11. The State became so frustrated that Brewster’s testimony did not conform to their theory of the case that they moved successfully to have him treated as a hostile witness.

The only other witness to the shooting was Kelvin Harris, a recovering drug addict with a lengthy criminal record, who claimed he was sitting on his front porch when the shooting occurred. Harris’ house is located diagonally across the street from the house where Kanard was shot. App. 110, l. 16 – 117, l. 18.

Harris averred that he saw Brewster’s car drive up the street towards Kanard’s house. Brewster and Harris are cousins. *Id.* Kanard saw Petitioner get out of the car and walk across Kanard’s yard. Kanard and Petitioner exchanged words, but Harris could not determine what they were. App. 115, ll. 6-24.

Harris claimed that, as Kanard was walking towards his house, Petitioner began shooting him. Harris conceded that he could not see whether there was anyone on the front porch of Kanard’s house from his vantage point. Harris recollected that he never saw Kanard pull out a

gun. *Id.* At trial, the State admitted that an individual named Tabius Dowels was on the front porch at the time of the shooting. Dowels had been charged with misprision of a felony arising out of this incident and the State did not call him at trial. App. 200, ll. 3-19.

On cross-examination Harris admitted that he initially told police that he did not see anything. Harris stated that he did not call the police after the shooting. Harris further admitted that he went as far as to tell the local news that he had not seen the shooting. He claimed that he came forward the day after the shooting because his boss urged him too. App. 128, l. 3 – 129, l. 14.

Curiously, Harris also testified that a second car pulled up during Petitioner's discussion with Kanard. A man that Harris recognized as Woods stepped out of the second car, a burgundy impala, holding a shotgun. Harris recalled that Woods had his car stolen the night before. Harris stated that Woods did not fire his shotgun. App. 126, l. 1 – 128, l. 20; App. 133, l. 3 – 135, l. 8.

No other witness stated that a second car or Wood were present at the time of the shooting. Even the investigating detectives declined to adopt Harris' allegation of Woods involvement. Woods did not testify at trial.

At the close of State's evidence, Petitioner requested and received a jury instruction on self-defense. App. 195 l. 20 – 209, l. 11. The court noted that it did not – personally – believe that Petitioner was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. *Id.* Likewise, the court expressed skepticism about whether or not Kanard had a gun and believed that – even if Kanard had a gun – he was likely acting lawfully in defense of his himself and his home. *Id.*

Petitioner did not request any lesser included offenses. At the request of defense counsel, the court did not give a *Belcher* charge stating that malice may be inferred from the use of a

deadly weapon. App. 195 1. 20 – 209, 1. 11. The court also refused to instruct jurors that Petitioner may act lawfully in self-defense despite unlawfully carrying a pistol. *Id.*

Jurors found Petitioner guilty as charged. The trial court sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment with a consecutive five year term for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 242, ll. 2-5

Direct Appeal

On direct appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial court's refusal to charge the jury that Petitioner could have lawfully acted in self-defense, despite being unlawfully armed. App. 244 – 258. Assistant Appellate Defender LaNelle Durant represented Petitioner. Assistant Attorney General Alphonso Simon, Jr., represented the State. App. 259 – 283. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions in an unpublished opinion filed on July 18, 2012. App. 284 – 285. This Court declined to grant certiorari on March 19, 2014. App. 286 - 321.

PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

On May 29, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief alleging that trial counsel was ineffective. App. 322 – 344. The State filed a return on October 21, 2014. App. 345 – 349.

On April 19, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Brian Johnson represented Petitioner. Assistant Attorney General Patrick Schmeckpeper represented the State. Petitioner's trial counsel Bill Godfrey was unable to testify due to health problems. Petitioner testified, as did Assistant Solicitors Sylvia Harrison and George Campbell. App. 350 – 384.

Petitioner testified that trial counsel was privately retained on the eve of trial. Counsel had been appointed to represent Petitioner as a public defender. However, counsel left the public

defender's office while Petitioner's case awaited trial. Petitioner and his replacement public defender did not get along. Petitioner then retained counsel a week before trial. App. 361, l. 22 – 362, l. 21.

Counsel and Petitioner only met once. Counsel appeared to be singularly focused on Petitioner's self-defense claim. App. 357, l. 12 – 360, l. 7. Petitioner stated that this focus was misplaced and that counsel was not prepared to counter the State's allegation that Petitioner had forfeited the right to self-defense by walking into Kanard's yard prior to the fatal encounter. *Id.* Petitioner felt that counsel's erroneous focus on self-defense reflected his lack of preparation for trial. *Id.* Petitioner believed that counsel should have requested a continuance since he had been privately retained on the eve of trial. *Id.*

Petitioner further explained that counsel convinced him to stand trial and to claim self-defense. Petitioner noted that – while he believed – he acted in self-defense, under the law of self-defense, he was unlikely to prevail because of the facts of the case. App. 365, l. 7 – 367, l. 20. Petitioner's chances of acquittal were further reduced when counsel was unable to convince the trial court to instruct jurors that Petitioner could act lawfully in self-defense despite unlawfully carrying a gun.

Assistant Solicitor Sylvia Harrison testified that defense counsel “really stressed the self-defense. . . . [H]e really did push the self-defense aspect, and that's why he got the charge from Judge Miller.” App. 372, l. 22 – 373, l. 2. Assistant Solicitor George Campbell recalled that defense counsel “reappeared” in the case in the fall of 2009. Petitioner stood trial in November, 2009. App. 377, ll. 6-22.

In closing arguments, PCR counsel emphasized the limited amount of time that defense counsel had to become reacquainted with the case when he was privately retained. PCR counsel

argued that defense counsel's assessment of Petitioner's case as a matter of self-defense was legally incorrect and not an objectively reasonable strategy. Kanard was standing in his front yard when he was fatally shot and Petitioner had initiated the conversation that led to Kanard's death. App. 380, ll. 1 -24. PCR counsel argued that, under the facts, a self-defense claim was simply not viable.

The State countered that any claim defense counsel was unprepared was "speculative" because Petitioner was physically with counsel all the time to witness any preparation. App. 381, ll. 6-23. Further, the State posited that any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel stemming from counsel's decision to pursue self-defense, was improper because Petitioner received a jury charge on self-defense. *Id.*

Order of Dismissal

On August 5, 2016, the PCR court issued a written order of dismissal denying Petitioner's application. App. 385 – 395.

The court concluded that Petitioner failed to demonstrate that defense counsel was unprepared for trial. App. 387 – 388. The court stated that Petitioner "could not competently speculate as to the extent of counsel's preparations." Moreover, even if counsel and Petitioner only met once, "brevity of time spend in consultation with [Petitioner], without more, does not establish that trial counsel was ineffective. *Id.*

The court further ruled that defense counsel was not ineffective for arguing self-defense. Adopting the State's reasoning, the court noted that Petitioner had received a self-defense jury instruction at his trial and, therefore, counsel could not have been ineffective for pursuing such a strategy. App. 388 – 390.

The court further found that defense counsel's advice on the likelihood of a self-defense claim succeeding was not "objectively unreasonable." According to the PCR court, Petitioner also failed to prove that he was prejudiced by either counsel's lack of preparation or counsel's decision to solely focus on self-defense. App. 391 – 392.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel, retained on the eve of trial, was sufficiently prepared for Petitioner's trial where counsel undertook an objectively unreasonable trial strategy based on self-defense when the evidence in Petitioner's case did not support a self-defense claim and where counsel also failed to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter despite the evidence in Petitioner's case supporting such a charge.

Defense counsel was retained by Petitioner on the eve of trial. App. 377, ll. 6-22. Counsel had previously represented Petitioner as a public defender, but had been relieved of his appointment when he left the public defender's office. A year and a half later, in an atmosphere of mounting frustration and distrust between Petitioner and his second public defender, Petitioner retained defense counsel. App. 357, l. 12 – 360, l. 7.

Counsel centered his trial strategy on self-defense. This strategy required Petitioner to testify. Accordingly, Petitioner had to admit that he regularly illegally carried a pistol. To prevail on a claim of self-defense, counsel would also have had to convince jurors that Petitioner was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty that led to Kanard's shooting. This would be despite Petitioner being in Kanard's front yard at the time of the fatal incident.

Counsel further had to convince jurors that Kanard or Bowles, the man on the porch, was armed at the time of the difficulty. No guns were ever recovered. Bowles did not testify at trial. Kanard was shot nine times. Under these circumstances, self-defense was not an objectively reasonable trial strategy. At a minimum it was not objectively reasonable for trial counsel to exclusively rely on self-defense as a theory.

Had counsel had more time to prepare for trial, counsel would have likely realized that a complete self-defense claim was likely non-viable. Counsel should have sought, in addition to the self-defense charge, a charge on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Had

counsel done so there was a reasonable probability that the result of Petitioner's trial would have been different.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In a PCR action, "[t]he burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence." *Frasier v. State*, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (citing Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 692; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Bulter*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." *Id.* at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 117-118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 694); *see also Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Deficient Performance

In this case, trial counsel's performance was deficient, as it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. Defense counsel, retained on the eve of trial, elected to undertake an objectively unreasonable trial strategy centered solely on a non-viable claim of self-defense. *See McKnight*, 378 S.C. at 46, 661 S.E.2d at 360 (finding trial counsel failed "to discover all reasonably available mitigation evidence and reasonable available evidence tending to rebut any aggravating evidence introduced by the State"); *see also Ard*, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590.

The State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998). A person is justified using deadly force in self-defense when:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) The defendant ... actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief ...; and
- (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). However, an individual who provokes or initiates an assault may not assert self-defense. *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999).

"Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a

justification or excuse for a homicide.” *Id.* Concomitantly, a person has the right to act on appearances, even if the person's belief is ultimately mistaken. *State v. Fuller*, 297 S.C. 440, 443–44, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989).

Therefore, “[o]nce the right to fire in self-defense arises, a defendant is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal terms or until he has fired or aimed his weapon in order to act.” *State v. Starnes*, 340 S.C. 312, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000) (citing *State v. Hendrix*, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978)). “[W]ords accompanied by hostile acts may, depending on the circumstances, establish a plea of self-defense.” *Fuller*, 297 S.C. at 444, 377 S.E.2d at 331 (1989) (quoting *State v. Harvey*, 220 S.C. 506, 68 S.E.2d 409 (1951)).

Petitioner testified that defense counsel was utterly convinced that his case was a self-defense case App. 377, ll. 6-22; see also App. 372, l. 22 – 373, l. 2. Counsel clearly focused on the portions of the self-defense doctrine allowing Petitioner to fire as many times as necessary to end the threat and on Petitioner’s right to be wrong when acting on appearances. *Id.*

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