STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Fairfield County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 22 2017

Appellate Case No. 2016-001810

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CAMERON HAMMONDS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DESHAWN H. MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 101813

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner proceeded on the following allegations: trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately prepare; for advising him that he was eligible for a charge on self-defense; for failing to inform him that he was not likely to be acquitted on self-defense; and failing to move for a sentencing reconsideration. Initially, the PCR court found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of showing trial counsel was not adequately prepared for trial. The court noted Petitioner's self-serving testimony regarding the amount of time spent with counsel was not credible. (App.p.387). Petitioner alleged trial counsel only met with him once and counsel handled his case for only five days before trial. (App.p.387). However, the PCR court found trial counsel was Petitioner's first attorney and the solicitor's office initially sent discovery to trial counsel. (App.p.387). Thereafter, Petitioner was appointed one or more different attorneys, and trial counsel was apparently relieved.⁶ (App.p.387). Shortly before trial, Petitioner retained trial counsel to represent him again. The PCR court found trial counsel handled the case for more than five days as alleged by Petitioner and Petitioner could not

⁶ It is not entirely clear from the record how Mr. Godfrey's initial representation of Petitioner came to an end.

competently speculate as to the extent of counsel's preparations. (App.p.387). Moreover, the PCR court found even assuming Petitioner's testimony regarding the number of meetings was true, brevity of time spent in consultation with Petitioner, without more, did not establish trial counsel was ineffective. Furthermore, the PCR court found there was no credible evidence or testimony in the record in support of Petitioner's assertion that counsel was not adequately prepared for trial. (App.p.388). Finally, the PCR court found Petitioner had failed to show prejudice resulting from counsel's alleged failure to adequately prepare. See Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1994) (noting mere speculation and conjecture is insufficient to substantiate allegation that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial). The PCR court concluded Petitioner had not presented any evidence as to how additional preparation would have affected the outcome of the proceeding; instead, he simply alleged that counsel should have prepared more. (App.p.388).

Moreover, the PCR court also found Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving trial counsel was ineffective for advising him he was eligible for self-defense and failing to advise Petitioner he was not likely to be acquitted for murder on self-defense grounds. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for telling him he qualified for the elements of self-defense. (App.p.389). He testified he learned that he did not qualify for self-defense because his "showing up to the [victim's] property asking some questions brought on a difficulty to the situation." (App.p.389). The PCR court found Petitioner did indeed qualify for a charge on self-defense, as evidenced by the fact the trial judge charged the jury on self-defense prior to deliberations. (App.p.389). The PCR court concluded after independently reviewing the facts of the case, Petitioner was entitled to a charge on self-defense based on his testimony at trial. (App.p.389). Additionally, Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for

failing to advise Applicant that he was not likely to be acquitted for murder on self-defense grounds. In finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden, the PCR court noted trial counsel correctly informed Petitioner that he was eligible for self-defense. (App.p.390). Further, the PCR court found even assuming Petitioner's depiction of trial counsel's advice to proceed to trial was believable the PCR noted the advice itself was not objectively unreasonable because Petitioner had a viable self-defense claim, particularly in light of the discrepancies in the State's case.(App.p.391). Lastly, the PCR court found Petitioner was unable to show prejudice as Petitioner failed to show counsel's advice induced his decision to proceed to trial where the evidence and testimony in the record indicates Petitioner rejected the State's plea offer prior to trial counsel being hired to represent him for the second time. (App.p.392).

It is clear from the PCR record there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding that trial counsel did not render Petitioner ineffective assistance of counsel. As previously mention, trial counsel's strategy was to argue self-defense. He executed this strategy by placing the Petitioner on the stand who testified about his encounter with the victim. Petitioner testified he noticed two people were home when he walked by the victim's house with one of them being the victim. (App.p.173). Petitioner proceeded to ask them why they robbed his little brother. Petitioner testified the victim responded with a derogatory remark. (App.p.173-174) Once this happened, Petitioner and the victim started to engage in a verbal confrontation. Petitioner then said the other man pulled a gun and thereafter the victim tried to pull his gun as well. Petitioner testified the victim "fumbled" the gun and he caught it. (App.p.176). Petitioner then testified he pulled a gun he had been carrying and started to run and shoot simultaneously. (App.p.176). Through Petitioner's testimony, trial counsel was able to establish that Petitioner was indeed protecting himself from imminent danger.

This Court has held in Dickey a person is justified in using deadly force in self-defense when: 1) the defendant is without fault in bringing on the difficulty; 2) the defendant ... actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger; 3) if the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and 4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011). Here, Petitioner argues trial counsel was deficient because he took an unreasonable position in asserting self-defense as Petitioner failed to meet the first prong of the self-defense test. However, this argument runs afoul of the fact the trial judge instructed the jury with the charge of self-defense. If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error. State v. Frazier, 401 S.C. 224, 233, 736 S.E.2d 301, 306 (Ct. App. 2013). While it is true a defendant cannot be at fault and profess a claim of self-defense, in this instance had Petitioner not be eligible for the charge of self-defense, the trial judge would not have instructed the jury on it. "Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide." State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). An accused who provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense unless he both withdraws from the conflict and communicates his withdrawal by word or act to his adversary. Id. State v. Jackson, 384 S.C. 29, 35-36, 681 S.E.2d 17, 20-21 (Ct. App. 2009). Here, given the facts as testified by Petitioner, trial counsel employed

a trial strategy that was plausible. Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Additionally, the PCR court made the following finding about trial counsel preparation for Petitioner's trial.

Petitioner cannot competently speculate as to the extent of counsel's preparations. Moreover, even assuming Petitioner's testimony regarding the number of meetings was true, brevity of time spent in consultation with Petitioner, without more, does not establish that trial counsel was ineffective. Harris at 75, 659 S.E.2d at 145 (*citing* Easter v. Estelle, 609 F.2d 756, 759 (5th Cir. 1980)). There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007) (*citing* Strickland, *supra*). In this Court's mind, Petitioner has failed to overcome that presumption, particularly when taking into account the fact that counsel was a seasoned criminal defense attorney with over two decades of experience at the time he tried this case.⁷ See Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 75, 659 S.E.2d 140, 145 (2008) (reversing PCR judge's finding that counsel's preparation inadequate, citing counsel's experience as a criminal defense attorney). Accordingly, there is no

⁷ Sylvia Harrison, of the Greenville County Solicitor's Office, testified that she had known counsel since 1991 or '92, and that he had been a criminal defense attorney that entire time.⁷ PCR Tr. p. 22, l. 25 - p. 23, l. 5.

credible evidence or testimony in the record in support of Petitioner's assertion that counsel was not adequately prepared for trial. This Court therefore finds Applicant has failed to meet his burden to show deficiency.(App.p.387-388).

Moreover, Petitioner did not present any evidence to show trial counsel was unprepared for trial at the evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's ruling.

II. Petitioner did not preserve the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter for appellate review where the PCR court did not rule on this issue and Petitioner failed to file a rule 59(e) motion asking trial court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on this allegation

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003), the PCR judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). In the present case, the PCR court did not address whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for this Court's review.

In Marlar v. State this court held the Applicant's failure to file a Rule 59 (e), SCRPC, motion asking post-conviction relief judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as to rejected post-conviction challenges rendered those challenges waived for appellate review, precluding further review on the merits. Marlar v. State 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E. 2d 266 (2007)

This Court in Marlar concluded by stating “[c]ounsel preparing proposed orders should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the attention of the PCR judge prior to issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it. Even after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and

file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRCP.” Marlar, at 410, 653 S.E. 2d at 267. In the current case appellant failed to make the proper motion under Rule 59. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for appellate reviewed and should be dismissed.

The current case is similar to Marlar because Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion. One of Petitioner’s arguments to this Court is trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter. However, the PCR judge did not rule on this issue. The only issues ruled upon by the PCR court were: whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately prepare; for advising Petitioner that he was eligible for a charge on self-defense; for failing to inform Petitioner that he was not likely to be acquitted on self-defense; and failing to move for a sentencing reconsideration all of which the judge found to have no merit (App.p.385-395). Additionally, Petitioner did not move pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his current allegation he now raises for appellate review. Therefore, under Marlar’s holding the current issue raise was not preserved for appellate review.

Notwithstanding any preservation concerns, Petitioner has still failed to meet his burden of proof in showing trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a lesser-included jury charge of voluntary manslaughter as trial counsel strategy was to show Petitioner acted in self-defense and a potential voluntary manslaughter charge would have allowed for a compromised verdict.

Moreover, at the PCR hearing, Sylvia Harrison, one of the assistant solicitors who prosecuted the case testified. (App.p.372-377). Assistant solicitor Harrison testified trial counsel really stressed the self-defense aspect. (App.p.372). Additionally, the PCR court found Petitioner

had a viable self-defense claim, particularly in light of the discrepancies in the State's case. (App.p.391). The PCR court noted one of the State's key witnesses, Stephon Brewster, recanted his prior statement to law enforcement, and refused to implicate Petitioner on the stand and the State's other eyewitness, Kelvin Harris, testified that he could not see the porch from his vantage point during the shooting, and was therefore unable to fully refute Petitioner's self-defense claim. (App.p.391). Here, trial counsel's strategy was to argue Petitioner acted in self-defense. A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel does not have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010). "[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. Counsel's decision not to request jury instructions on lesser-included offenses was a valid trial strategy. Abney v. State, 408 S.C. at 46-47, 757 S.E.2d at 546-47 (Ct. App. 2014) (recognizing counsel's decision not to request a jury instruction on lesser included offenses can be a valid trial strategy). Accordingly, while this issue is not preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has failed to show trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury charge of voluntary manslaughter.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.